

1 Steve W. Berman (*pro hac vice*)
2 Robert F. Lopez (*pro hac vice*)
3 HAGENS BERMAN SOBOL SHAPIRO LLP
4 1301 Second Avenue, Suite 2000
5 Seattle, WA 98101
6 Telephone: (206) 623-7292
7 Facsimile: (206) 623-0594
8 steve@hbsslaw.com
9 robl@hbsslaw.com

Bonny E. Sweeney (SBN 176174)
Kyle Geoffrey Bates (SBN 299114)
HAUSFELD LLP
600 Montgomery Street, Suite 3200
San Francisco, CA 94104
Telephone: (415) 633-1908
Facsimile: (415) 358-4980
bsweeney@hausfeld.com
kbates@hausfeld.com

7 Ben M. Harrington (SBN 313877)
8 Benjamin J. Siegel (SBN 256260)
9 HAGENS BERMAN SOBOL SHAPIRO LLP
10 715 Hearst Avenue, Suite 202
11 Berkeley, CA 94710
12 Telephone: (510) 725-3000
13 Facsimile: (510) 725-3001
14 benh@hbsslaw.com
15 bens@hbsslaw.com

Eamon P. Kelly (*pro hac vice*)
Joseph M. Vanek (*pro hac vice*)
Alberto Rodriguez (*pro hac vice*)
SPERLING & SLATER, P.C.
55 W. Monroe Street, 32nd Floor
Chicago, IL 60603
Telephone: (312) 676-5845
Facsimile: (312) 641-6492
jvanek@sperling-law.com
ekelly@sperling-law.com
arodriguez@sperling-law.com

14 *Interim Co-Lead Class Counsel*

15 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
16 NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
17 SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION

17 IN RE GOOGLE PLAY DEVELOPER
18 ANTITRUST LITIGATION

Case No. 3:20-cv-05792-JD

19 SECOND AMENDED CONSOLIDATED
20 CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR
21 VIOLATION OF THE SHERMAN AND
22 CLAYTON ACTS (15 U.S.C. §§ 1, 2, 3, 15,
23 26), CARTWRIGHT ACT (CAL. BUS. &
24 PROF. CODE §§ 16700 ET SEQ.) AND
UNFAIR COMPETITION LAW (CAL. BUS.
& PROF. CODE §§17200 ET SEQ.)

**DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL OF ALL
ISSUES SO TRIABLE**

25 *Related Actions:*
26 *Epic Games, Inc. v. Google LLC,*
27 *No. 3:20-cv-5671-JD*
In re Google Play Consumer Antitrust
Litigation, No. 3:20-cv-5761-JD

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

1			
2			
3	I.	INTRODUCTION	1
4	II.	JURISDICTION AND VENUE	7
5	III.	INTRA-DISTRICT ASSIGNMENT	8
6	IV.	PARTIES	8
7		A. The Plaintiffs	8
8		B. The Defendants	10
9	V.	RELEVANT FACTS	11
10		A. The Market for Licensable Smart Mobile Operating Systems	12
11		B. The Google Play Store	17
12		C. While the Android OS is Superficially Open-Source, Google Leveraged a Thicket of Contracts, Incentive Payments, and Technological Impediments to Maintain an Iron Grip on the Ecosystem and to Cement Play’s Dominance.	19
13		D. Google Is a Monopolist in the Markets for Android OS App Distribution and In-App Payment Processing.	28
14		E. Apple Does Not Constrain Google’s Monopoly Power.	34
15		F. Google Engages in Unlawful Behavior in Order to Restrain Trade and to Maintain and Grow Its Monopoly.	36
16		1. Google enters anticompetitive contracts with OEMs.	36
17		2. Google designs and implements technical barriers.	39
18		3. Google blocks sideloaded applications and app stores from auto-updating and advertising through Google Ads.	52
19		4. Google has, at times, shut down existing consumers’ access to competitive stores.	54
20		5. Google has substantially foreclosed competition by leveraging agreements with OEMs to foreclose third-party distribution and imposing unreasonable and/or pretextual technological barriers that stymie rivals.	55
21		G. Google’s Unlawful Practices Harm Developers and Competition.	57
22		1. Google’s monopolization of the market stifles innovation.	57
23		2. Google harms developers by killing competition and diminishing consumer choice.	60
24		3. Google also harms developers and competition by depressing output.	60
25			
26			
27			
28			

1	4.	Google harms developers by charging a supracompetitive price for distribution services for Android OS apps and in-app payment processing.	61
2			
3	H.	Google Monopolizes the Market for Android In-App Payment Processing for Digital Products.	67
4			
5	1.	The In-App Payment Processing Market is a relevant antitrust market.	67
6	2.	Google has unlawfully tied Google Play Billing to the Google Play Store.	68
7	3.	But for Google’s anticompetitive tie, Developers would choose between a variety of reliable and less expensive payment processing options.	70
8			
9	4.	Google’s in-app payment processing tie is not necessary to incentivize its investment in the Play Store or Android.	71
10			
11	5.	Google’s unlawful tie has led to supracompetitive service fees and other anticompetitive effects in the In-App Payment Processing Market.	72
12	VI.	INTERSTATE TRADE AND COMMERCE	75
13	VII.	RELEVANT MARKETS	75
14	A.	First Relevant Product Market.....	75
15	B.	Second Relevant Product Market	78
16	C.	Geographic Market.....	80
17	VIII.	CLASS ALLEGATIONS	80
18	IX.	APPLICABILITY OF CALIFORNIA LAW	83
19		FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION: VIOLATION OF THE SHERMAN ACT – MONOPOLIZATION OF ANDROID APP DISTRIBUTION MARKET (15 U.S.C. § 2).....	84
20			
21		SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION: VIOLATION OF THE SHERMAN ACT – ATTEMPTED MONOPOLIZATION OF ANDROID APP DISTRIBUTION MARKET (15 U.S.C. § 2).....	85
22			
23		THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION: VIOLATION OF THE SHERMAN ACT - MONOPOLIZATION OF MARKET FOR ANDROID IN-APP PAYMENT PROCESSING (15 U.S.C. § 2)	86
24			
25		FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION: VIOLATION OF THE SHERMAN ACT – ATTEMPTED MONOPOLIZATION OF MARKET FOR ANDROID IN-APP PAYMENT PROCESSING (15 U.S.C. § 2).....	88
26			
27		FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION: VIOLATION OF THE SHERMAN ACT – RESTRAINT OF TRADE RE: IN-APP PAYMENT PROCESSING (15 U.S.C. §§ 1, 3).....	89
28			

1 SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION: VIOLATION OF THE SHERMAN ACT – TYING
2 AS ALTERNATIVE BASIS FOR RESTRAINT OF TRADE RE: IN-APP
3 PAYMENT-PROCESSING (15 U.S.C. §§ 1, 3)..... 90

4 SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION: VIOLATION OF THE UNFAIR COMPETITION
5 ACT (CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE §§ 17200 *ET SEQ.*)..... 92

6 A. Google’s Conduct is Unlawful 92

7 B. Google Has Behaved Unfairly..... 93

8 C. Google Has Behaved Fraudulently..... 94

9 EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION: VIOLATION OF THE CARTWRIGHT ACT
10 (CA. BUS & PROF. CODE §§ 16700 *ET SEQ.*) 94

11 NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION: VIOLATION OF THE CARTWRIGHT ACT;
12 TYING AS ALTERNATIVE BASIS FOR RESTRAINT OF TRADE
13 REGARDING IN-APP PAYMENT PROCESSING (CA. BUS & PROF.
14 CODE §§ 16700 *ET SEQ.*) 96

15 PRAYER FOR RELIEF 98

16 JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 98

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

1 For their suit against Defendants Google LLC, Google Ireland Limited, Google Commerce
2 Limited, Google Asia Pacific PTE. Ltd. and Google Payment Corp. (collectively, Google), Plaintiffs
3 Pure Sweat Basketball Inc., Peekya App Services, Inc., LittleHoots, LLC, and Scalisco LLC d/b/a
4 Rescue Pets on their own behalf and that of all similarly situated U.S. Android OS application
5 developers, allege as follows:

6 I. INTRODUCTION

7 1. Native applications—apps of various sorts programmed for and downloaded to a
8 mobile device—bring smartphones and tablets to life. In turn, add-ons for apps—items such as
9 consumables (for example, extra lives in an adventure game) or subscriptions for full-fledged mobile
10 productivity apps—make apps more fun or useful. These apps and in-app digital content are created
11 through the ingenuity, training, investment, and hard work of developers, and the buyers of their
12 products now include most households in the United States. As of February 2021, 85% of Americans
13 owned smartphones, and 53% owned tablets.¹ Where U.S. consumers buy apps and add-ons depends
14 on whether their devices run on Apple’s or Google’s respective operating systems. As the
15 Congressional Subcommittee on Antitrust, Commercial, and Administrative Law recently reported,
16 “both Apple and Google have durable and persistent market power in the mobile operating system
17 market; iOS and Android run on more than 99% of mobile devices in the U.S. and globally.”² The
18 Apple App Store is “the only app store available on iOS devices,” and the “Google Play store is the
19 primary app store installed on all Android devices.”³

20 2. And because the apps and add-ons for iOS and Android devices are incompatible⁴ (with
21 all the barriers and switching costs entailed), Apple’s app store does not place competitive pressure on
22

23 ¹ <http://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/mobile/> (last accessed July 19, 2021).

24 ² *Investigation of Competition in Digital Markets: Majority Staff Report and Recommendations*,
25 Subcommittee on Antitrust, Commercial and Administrative Law of the Committee on the Judiciary,
26 United States House of Representatives (October 6, 2020) (“House Report”) at 94, available at
https://judiciary.house.gov/uploadedfiles/competition_in_digital_markets.pdf (last accessed Oct. 21,
2020).

27 ³ *Id.* at 95.

28 ⁴ <https://yourbusiness.azcentral.com/apple-apps-compatible-android-20369.html> (last accessed
Aug. 15, 2020); *see* House Report at 94.

Explore Litigation Insights

Docket Alarm provides insights to develop a more informed litigation strategy and the peace of mind of knowing you're on top of things.

Real-Time Litigation Alerts



Keep your litigation team up-to-date with **real-time alerts** and advanced team management tools built for the enterprise, all while greatly reducing PACER spend.

Our comprehensive service means we can handle Federal, State, and Administrative courts across the country.

Advanced Docket Research



With over 230 million records, Docket Alarm's cloud-native docket research platform finds what other services can't. Coverage includes Federal, State, plus PTAB, TTAB, ITC and NLRB decisions, all in one place.

Identify arguments that have been successful in the past with full text, pinpoint searching. Link to case law cited within any court document via Fastcase.

Analytics At Your Fingertips



Learn what happened the last time a particular judge, opposing counsel or company faced cases similar to yours.

Advanced out-of-the-box PTAB and TTAB analytics are always at your fingertips.

API

Docket Alarm offers a powerful API (application programming interface) to developers that want to integrate case filings into their apps.

LAW FIRMS

Build custom dashboards for your attorneys and clients with live data direct from the court.

Automate many repetitive legal tasks like conflict checks, document management, and marketing.

FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Litigation and bankruptcy checks for companies and debtors.

E-DISCOVERY AND LEGAL VENDORS

Sync your system to PACER to automate legal marketing.